#### NO. 46002-5-II

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

**DIVISION II** 

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

## **GUADALUPE SOLIS-DIAZ, JR.,**

Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

#

#### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

#### Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it concluded that it lacked a legal basis upon which to grant Mr. Solis-Diaz a sentence below the standard range based on the multiple offense policy mitigating factor set forth in RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g).
- 2. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it considered youth as a potential mitigating factor in isolation, rather than as a factor of Mr. Solis-Diaz's impaired capacity to appreciate the consequences of his actions.
- 3. The imposition of an equivalent life sentence without a reasonable opportunity for parole on a 16-year-old child for a non-homicide offense violates both the Eighth Amendment prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment and the Fourteenth Amendment right to fundamental fairness.
- 4. The 93 year sentence the trial court imposed on Mr. Solis-Diaz violates the prohibition on inflicting cruel punishment under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 14.
- 5. The trial court's interpretation of the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) precluding consideration of personal factors is contrary to the federal constitutional requirements that courts adjust sentences for children based on their youth and related factors.

6. Under the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine this court should remand this case for resentencing before a different judge because a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would not conclude that the defendant had obtained a fair, impartial and neutral sentencing hearing.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Does the plain language of RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g) call for the imposition of sentences below the standard range when the operation of the multiple offense policy results in a clearly excessive sentence, and does a trial court's refusal to consider the imposition of a sentence below the standard range in such circumstances constitute reversible error?
- 2. Does a trial court err if it refuses to impose a sentence below the standard range on a juvenile charged in adult court when the evidence conclusively demonstrates that a number of factors, including youth, impaired that juvenile's capacity to appreciate the consequences of his or her actions?
- 3. Does imposition of a 93 year determinate sentence on a 16-yearold boy who did not kill or inflict injury constitute cruel and unusual punishment prohibited by United States Constitution, Eighth Amendment?
- 4. Does imposition of a 93 year determinate sentence on a 16-yearold boy who did not kill or inflict injury constitute cruel and unusual punishment prohibited by Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 14?

- 5. Does the SRA violate the Eighth Amendment right of juveniles to the extent it is interpreted to preclude imposition of a sentence below the standard range based upon mitigating facts such as the child's age, mental and emotional development, dysfunctional home environment, lack of criminal history, and evidence of the potential for rehabilitation?
- 6. In a case in which a trial judge at a second sentencing hearing refuses to follow the mandate of the Court of Appeals and thereby imposes the same sentence that the Court of Appeals vacated, does the appearance of fairness doctrine require that the case be remanded to a new judge for a third sentencing hearing?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

#### 1. Background

Guadalupe Solis-Diaz was born in Centralia, Washington, on August 14, 1990. CP 117. His mother is Native American, and his father is Mexican. *Id.* Along with his two half-sisters, Mr. Solis-Diaz was raised primarily by his mother and spent summers on the Quinault Reservation with his grandmother. *Id.* He never knew his father as a child, although since his sentencing in this matter, Mr. Solis-Diaz's father has reached out to him and offered support. *Id.* 

Growing up, Mr. Solis-Diaz struggled in school and was only able to complete the tenth grade. CP 117. As early as first grade, teachers noted Mr. Solis-Diaz's problems in multiple academic areas. CP 272. By second grade, he was diagnosed as Specific Learning Disabled ("SLD") and received specialized instruction. CP 139. From the fourth grade onward, schools placed him in Individualized Education Plan ("IEP") classes, but he continued to perform below average in several disciplines, including

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Professor Kimberly Ambrose of the University of Washington Law School in conjunction with law students Mariah Ferraz, Tiffinie Ma and Steven Swenson prepared the original draft of the Statement of the Case and the first two arguments in this brief. Both Mr. Solis-Diaz and appellate counsel are deeply indebted to them for their tireless efforts on behalf of Mr. Solis-Diaz. Any errors in the final brief contained in the sections they prepared can best be attributed to appellate counsel's subsequent editing.

vocabulary, reading comprehension, spelling, and math. *Id.* At the time of his last evaluation in 2007 at 16-years-old, he was shown to be below grade level in all subjects except basic reading skills. CP 140. Many of his skills were below sixth-grade level. *Id.* However, despite his difficulties in school, he worked hard and was well-liked by his teachers, many of whom remain supportive of him today. CP 117. A number of Mr. Solis-Diaz's teachers recall him as "extremely polite," a "favorite student," "one of the nicest kids around," respectful, hardworking and capable of being rehabilitated. CP 140, 142, 147, 148, 150.

Mr. Solis-Diaz's teenage years were particularly difficult for him. CP 118. At various points, he, his family, and his friends became victims of violence. *Id.* He also suffered psychological trauma associated with living with a mother with serious drug and alcohol dependence, as well as the severe trauma of living with a mother who made multiple suicide attempts. CP 118, 132. Although he was only a teenager, Mr. Solis-Diaz felt pressured to become the "man" of the house in order to protect his sisters from witnessing their mother harm herself, going so far as to hide all of the knives in the home. *Id.* Despite how frightening and confusing it was to live with his mother's drinking and the violence in his home, Mr. Solis-Diaz tried to remain brave for the sake of his siblings. *Id.* 

Unfortunately, Mr. Solis-Diaz eventually became unable to handle his

troubled home life. CP 118. He became depressed and left home seeking a less-negative environment. *Id.* Mr. Solis-Diaz wound up living on the streets and staying with friends whenever possible, and when his girlfriend broke up with him around this time, he felt he had nowhere else to turn. *Id.* When older cousins and friends took him in and offered him a safe place to stay away from the streets, Mr. Solis-Diaz accepted. *Id.* However, since his cousins were gang members, he eventually joined the gang as well. *Id.* Despite this gang affiliation, Mr. Solis-Diaz had no criminal history prior to the incident at hand. *Id.* His only interactions with the juvenile justice system involved one drug paraphernalia charge and one alcohol offense, both juvenile misdemeanors which occurred shortly before this incident. *Id.* 

#### 2. Conviction and Sentencing

Mr. Solis-Diaz was charged with six counts of first degree assault, one count of drive by shooting, and one count of second degree unlawful possession of a firearm out of a single incident. CP 1-4. He was declined automatically to adult court. CP 53. At the time he had just turned 16-years-old and this was his first experience with the criminal justice system. CP 117-118. He has been in custody ever since. *Id*.

In this case the state offered Mr. Solis-Diaz a plea deal which he did not understand. CP 118. As a 17-year-old, the prospect of 15 years in prison sounded no different to him than 100 years, and that time for an incident in

which he caused no injuries. *Id.* This prospect seemed unbelievable to him. *Id.* Moreover, he lacked any experience with the adult criminal justice system and did not trust his public defender. CP 117-118. When he asked for time to consult with his family, his public defender told him he had one night to make a decision. *Id.* During that night he did not have an opportunity to seek his family's advice. CP 117.

Mr. Solis-Diaz proceeded to trial in this case and the jury convicted him on all counts. CP 6. Although he had no adult criminal record and no one was injured in the shooting, he received the highest end of the standard range for each count, with six 60 month firearm enhancements run consecutively, and the two lesser counts run concurrently. CP 6-14. This produced an actual sentence of 1,111 months (92.5 years) in prison.

Mr. Solis-Diaz eventually filed a personal restraint petition before this court arguing that his sentence should be vacated based upon (1) ineffective assistance of counsel, and (2) violation of his state and federal constitutional rights to be free from cruel and unusual punishment. CP 35-47. This court agreed with the first argument, vacated his sentence and remanded the matter to the trial court for resentencing. *Id.* Specifically, this court found that Mr. Solis-Diaz's attorney at sentence downward and for failing to research or advocate for an exceptional sentence downward and for failing to notify the court that Mr. Solis-Diaz had been automatically declined to the adult

court. *Id.* In addition, this court found that in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183 (2005), the United States Supreme Court had "strongly indicated . . . that sentencing courts should consider the circumstances attendant upon youth." CP 45.

Despite this court's ruling, the trial judge at the new sentencing hearing imposed the identical sentence. CP 256-267. The trial judge stated that for this court to have found Mr. Solis-Diaz's sentencing attorney ineffective for failing to notify the court that he had been "auto-declined" was to "postulate that a judge would be so ignorant, lazy or stupid as to not know or inquire at some point why this 17-year-old was in adult court." RP 34. In addition, while the decision vacating the original sentence criticized the original trial attorneys's failure to present character witnesses, at resentencing the trial court declared: "That sort of testimony... [is [totally ineffective and ... not a sufficient basis on which to fashion a mitigated sentence in any event." RP 36.

At sentencing the trial court also refused to consider the mitigating facts related to the defendant's youth and background presented through the expert report of Dr. Ronald Roesch. RP 41. Indeed, the court ruled that this type of evidence as set out in Dr. Roesch's report "made for some interesting reading [but was ultimately] irrelevant since the law required the defendant to be treated as an adult." RP 41. The court further held that "the Legislature

intended the result obtained here" and that it would be "radical... to treat the SRA as advisory only and not binding on the trial court." RP 48. Moreover, the court found that despite Dr. Roesch's report and testimony, "there [was] no evidence at all to support" the position that Mr. Solis-Dias's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct was significantly diminished. RP 49-50. The court further mischaracterized the defendant's offenses as attempted murder. *Id.* The court opined: "It simply defies common sense that this defendant had no idea that it was wrong to attempt to kill someone." *Id.* Ultimately, the court ruled that the result in Mr. Solis-Diaz's case was exactly as the Legislature had intended and that none of the suggested mitigating factors were legally sufficient to support a sentence below the standard range.

#### 3. Prison

After his original sentencing hearing, Mr. Solis-Diaz spent the initial part of his sentence at Green Hill School, a facility operated by the Juvenile Rehabilitation Administration (JRA). CP 119. While there he worked with counselors and learned skills to cope with his difficult emotional issues. *Id.* Despite his turbulent childhood and learning disabilities he was able to make progress and identify issues in his upbringing that contributed to his gang involvement and take steps to make changes. CP 144-45. When he turned 18-years-old, he was transferred to Shelton and later to Washington State

Penitentiary, where he remains today. *Id*.

Mr. Solis-Diaz is now 24-years-old has been incarcerated since he was arrested at 16-years of age. CP 117-118. He tries to keep out of trouble while in prison and has worked to better himself. CP 119. While his mother and sisters were able to visit him while he was in Green Hill, they are unable to make the lengthy trip to Walla Walla. Id. As of February 2014, no one had visited him in person for over six years. *Id.* Despite these hardships, he earned his GED in 2009, enrolled in a graphic design program, and currently reads self-help books to stay positive and improve himself. *Id.* He spends time writing and reflecting on how to control his emotions and stay out of trouble, what caused him to join a gang, and how he can be a better person in the future. CP 118-19. Most importantly, he recognizes the wrongfulness of his past behavior and deeply regrets his actions and the harm he has caused. CP 120. He aspires to be a better person and reassume his role as a brother and an uncle and to contribute to his community in a positive manner. CP 119-120.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT THERE WAS NO LEGAL BASIS FOR GRANTING MR. SOLIS-DIAZ AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE UNDER THE "MULTIPLE OFFENSE POLICY" MITIGATING FACTOR THE LEGISLATURE RECOGNIZED IN RCW 9.94A.535(1)(G).

In the case at bar the trial court ruled that there was no legal basis for granting an exceptional sentence below the standard range for three reasons:

(1) the court did not have authority under the SRA to use the defendant's age and inability to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions as mitigating facts,

(2) the court did not have discretion to apply the multiple offense policy mitigating factor set forth in RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g) to serious violent offenses, and (3) the offender's youth could not be considered as evidence that the defendant's inability to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions was impaired. As the following explains, the trial court erred in each of these rulings.

(1) Under the SRA, the Trial Court Had Discretion to Grant Mr. Solis-Diaz a Mitigated Exceptional Sentence Based on the Clearly Excessive Presumptive Sentence and His Impaired Capacity to Appreciate the Wrongfulness of his Conduct.

This Court remanded Mr. Solis-Diaz's case to the trial court for resentencing based in part on the failure of his counsel to ask for an exceptional sentence below the standard range. *In re Pers. Restraint of Diaz*, 170 Wn.App. 1039 (2012). Upon resentencing, Mr. Solis-Diaz Diaz sought

a mitigated exceptional sentence based on (1) his impaired capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions, and (2) the fact that the prior sentence was clearly excessive as a result of the multiple offense policy under RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e)&(g). At resentencing the court incorrectly denied an exceptional sentence below the standard ranges based on these factors. While it is true that "no defendant is entitled to an exceptional sentence below the standard range," the fact is that Mr. Solis-Diaz, like "every defendant is entitled to ask the trial court to consider such a sentence and to have the alternative actually considered." *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005); *State v. Martinez Garcia*, 88 Wn.App. 322, 330, 944 P.2d 1104 (1997).

Under the SRA, sentencing courts have the discretion to impose a sentence that departs from the standard sentencing range when it finds "that there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence." RCW 9.94A.390. Among the mitigating circumstances that the court may consider when imposing an exceptional sentence below the standard range are whether "the defendant's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct, or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law, was significantly impaired," and whether the sentence was "clearly excessive" as a result of the multiple offense policy. RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e)&(g).

Despite this Court's holding that an exceptional sentence below the standard range was legally available and that Mr. Solis-Diaz's defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request such an exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g), at the resentencing hearing the trial court refused to consider whether the operation of the multiple offense policy resulted in a presumptive sentence that was clearly excessive in light of the purpose of RCW 9.94A.010. RP 50-51. Rather, the sentencing court simply found that Mr. Solis-Diaz's convictions for multiple serious violent offenses rendered him ineligible for a mitigated sentence under RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g). In making this ruling the trial court relied upon Division Three's decision in State v. Graham, 178 Wn.App. 580, 314 P.3d 1148 (2013). In that case court held that the "clearly excessive" mitigating factor did not apply when sentencing a defendant convicted of serious violent offenses. Id. at 583. That ruling by Division Three has now been reversed by the Washington State Supreme Court in State v. Graham, — Wn.2d —, 337 P.3d 319 (2014). In that case the court held:

We hold RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g) allows an exceptional sentence for multiple current serious violent offenses scored under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) that is achieved by departing downward from the standard ranges for the offenses and/or by running sentences concurrently. We reverse the Court of Appeals and remand for resentencing consistent with this opinion.

State v. Graham, 337 P.3d at 323.

Thus, in the case at bar, the trial court erred when it refused as a matter of law to consider the defendant's argument that his sentence was clearly excessive based upon the application of the multiple offense policy.

In this case the sentencing court also erred when it incorrectly considered Mr. Solis-Diaz's capacity for appreciating the wrongfulness of his actions. Instead of considering Mr. Solis-Diaz's youth as a contributing factor of his impaired capacity to understand the wrongfulness of his conduct, the trial court considered Mr. Solis-Diaz's youth in isolation and held that Mr. Solis-Diaz was not eligible for an exceptional sentence downward based on his youth. RP 51. In so holding the trial court erred.

# (2) The Sentencing Court Had Discretion to Apply the Multiple Offense Policy Mitigating Factor Set Forth in RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g) to Serious Violent Offenses.

The Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 permits structured discretionary sentencing "when the operation of the multiple offense policy results in a presumptive sentence that is clearly excessive in light of the purpose of this chapter." RCW 9. 94A.535(1)(g). In spite of this specific grant of authority, the trial court at resentencing in the case at bar refused to consider imposing an exceptional sentence downward based on a finding that the sentence was clearly excessive. Rather, in referring to the "clearly excessive" grounds as one of two "non-statutory mitigating factors," the trial court stated that to find a sentence clearly excessive "would be nothing less than treating the SRA

range as advisory or nonexistent." RP 51. Thus, even though (1) the legislature specifically identified clearly excessive sentences as a mitigating factor if resulting from the operation of the multiple offense policy, and (2) this Court found that Mr. Solis-Diaz's sentencing counsel was ineffective for failing to request such a sentence, yet in this case the sentencing court rejected both the legislative mandate and this court's ruling when it held that "trial courts are not to impose their own feelings on the standard range sentences, as that is what the Legislature has determined they shall be" and "[f]or me to find that, what I would be saying is I just disagree with what the Legislature has done here and that the result of correctly applying what they drafted is wrong." *Id*.

By so holding the trial court did not consider a mitigated exceptional sentence on the grounds of a clearly excessive sentence. In refusing to consider the excessive nature of Mr. Solis-Diaz's 93 year sentence imposed for a non-homicide offense committed when he was 16-years-old, the trial court unnecessarily applied Division Three's decision in *Graham*, which has since been reversed by the Washington Supreme Court. As was stated above, in *Graham*, the Supreme Court reaffirmed that RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g) applies to all multiple offenses, including serious violent offenses. As the Washington Supreme Court clarified in *Graham*, Mr. Solis-Diaz's convictions for serious violent offenses did not bar the trial court from

considering an exceptional mitigated sentence based on the clearly excessive nature of his sentence which resulted from the application of the multiple sentencing policy.

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