#### No. 46002-5-II

## THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

### **GUADALUPE SOLIS-DIAZ, JR.,**

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

### **Respondent's Brief**

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

### **

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

## a. The Eighth Amendment is not implicated by separate sentences for separate crimes.

The fact that Solis-Diaz is not serving a single lengthy sentence for a single conviction (as were the juvenile offenders in *Miller v. Alabama*<sup>5</sup>), but six separate sentences for six separate convictions for crimes against six different victims, cannot be overlooked when considering whether the sum total of the sentences violates the Eighth Amendment.<sup>6</sup>

The comparison between the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the punishment is the sentence imposed for a single offense. *United States v. Aiello*, 864 F.2d 257, 265 (2nd Cir. 1988). The fact that cumulative punishments may be imposed for distinct offenses in the same prosecution does not present an Eighth Amendment question if each individual sentence is "reasonable."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Miller v. Alabama, \_\_ U.S.\_\_, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed.2d 407 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State is only referring to the six separate counts of Assault in the First Degree which were ordered to run consecutively, not the two counts (Drive By Shooting and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm) which were run concurrently.

See, e.g., Lockyer v. Andrade, 538 U.S. 63, 74 n. 1, 123 S. Ct. 1166, 155 L. Ed. 2d 144 (2003) (rejecting, in context of federal habeas review, dissent's argument that two consecutive sentences of twenty-five years to life for separate offenses were equivalent, for purposes of Eighth Amendment analysis, to one sentence of life without parole for thirty-seven-year-old defendant); O'Neil v. Vermont, 144 U.S. 323, 331, 36 L. Ed. 450, 12 S. Ct. 693 (1892) (quoting O'Neil v. State, 58 Vt. 140, 2 A. 586 (1886) ("It would scarcely be competent for a person to assail the constitutionality of the statute prescribing a punishment for burglary, on the ground that he had committed so many burglaries that, if punishment for each were inflicted on him, he might be kept in prison for life.""); United States v. Beverly, 369 F.3d 516, 537 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 125 S. Ct. 122 (2004) (imposition of consecutive sentences upon a first time felon is not a violation of the Eighth Amendment where no one of the sentences is intrinsically "grossly disproportionate" to the crime of armed bank robbery); State v. Berger, 134 P.3d 378 (twenty consecutive ten-year sentences for child pornography does not violate the Eighth Amendment).

This rule has been applied specifically to claims that consecutive terms imposed upon a defendant for crimes committed

as a juvenile violated the Eighth Amendment. *See State v. Kasic*, 228 Ariz. 228, 265 P.3d 410 (2011) (finding that cumulative sentence of 139.75 years for juvenile non-homicide offender, based on consecutive term-of-years sentences for multiple crimes with multiple victims, did not violate Eighth Amendment); *Walle v. State*, 99 So.3d 967 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012) (consecutive sentences of 65 years for 18 offenses, consecutive to a 27-year sentence in a separate case, did not violate Eighth Amendment when imposed on juvenile non-homicide offender); *Bunch v. Smith*, 685 F.2d 546 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012) (denying habeas relief under Eighth Amendment to juvenile non-homicide offender who received separate consecutive sentences for separate crimes against the same victim totaling 89 years).

While Solis-Diaz's consecutive sentences for his multiple serious violent offenses amount to a lengthy term of years, he was not sentenced to life without the possibility of parole, the only sentence *Miller* specifically prohibits. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2469. Under the analysis set out above, Solis-Diaz's sentences do not violate the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.

#### b. Solis-Diaz's sentence is not mandatory.

There is another reason why Solis-Diaz's sentence does not run afoul of *Miller*. Unlike a mandatory life sentence without possibility of release, Solis-Diaz's standard range sentence of 1111 months may be mitigated through the imposition of an exceptional sentence. Pursuant to the Washington State Supreme Court decision in *Graham II*, a sentencing court has discretion to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range even in the case of consecutive sentences for multiple serious violent offenses, if the court finds that the cumulative sentence is clearly excessive in light of the purposes of the SRA. *Graham II*, 181 Wn.2d at 885.

## c. The Legislature has remedied the problem identified in *Miller*.

Solis-Diaz's sentence is not among those prohibited by *Miller* because the Washington Legislature last year enacted statutes addressing (and arguably going beyond) the problem identified in *Miller*. Under these statutes (the "*Miller* fix"), any defendant who stands convicted of one or more crimes committed prior to his 18<sup>th</sup> birthday may petition the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board (ISRB) for early release after serving 20 years of total confinement. RCW 9.94A.730(1).

The relevant statute contains a presumption of release: "This board *shall* order the person released under such affirmative and other conditions as the board determines appropriate, unless the board determines by a preponderance of the evidence that, despite such conditions, it is more likely than not that the person will commit new criminal law violations if released." RCW 9.94A.730(3) (itallics added). Thus, Washington's sentencing scheme for juvenile offenders contains a realistic possibility of release after 20 years, and accordingly does not violate the *Miller* prohibition on mandatory life without parole sentences for such offenders.

d. The trial court set a review hearing, thereby allowing Solis-Diaz an opportunity to show he has rehabilitated.

The trial court set a review hearing to allow Solis-Diaz to present evidence to show he has rehabilitated while in prison. RP 9, 54; Supp. CP Docket Notice. This review hearing complies with the analysis set forth in *Miller* and *Graham*, requiring a meaningful opportunity for release. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2468-69; *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 82.

# 3. Solis-Diaz Does Not Provide A Sufficient Analysis For This Court To Determine His Article I, Section 14, Argument.

The Washington State Constitution has a prohibition against cruel punishment. Const. art. I, § 14. The Washington state Constitution states, "[e]xcessive bail shall not be required, excessive fines imposed, nor cruel punishment inflicted." Const. art. I, § 14. The Washington State Supreme Court has previously held that the prohibition against cruel punishments found in Article I, section 14 of the Washington State Constitution affords greater protection than the Eighth Amendment. *State v. Manussier*, 129 Wn.2d 652, 674, 921 P.2d 473 (1996). The Court has listed three factors to determine if a sentence is cruel under article I, section 14: (1) the nature of the offense, (2) the punishment in other jurisdictions for the same offense, and (3) punishment in Washington for other offenses. *State v. Fain*, 94 Wn.2d 387, 726-28, 617 P.2d 720 (1980).

Solis-Diaz makes a conclusory statement, "In this case a review and application of the *Fain* standards leads to the conclusion that the imposition of the standard range sentence against Mr. Solis-Diaz violated Washington Constitution, Article I, § 14." Brief of Appellant 27. There is no analysis of the *Fain* factors

and his argument is thus insufficient to support this claim. *In re Haynes*, 100 Wn. App. 366, 375-76, 996 P.2d 637 (2000).

# 4. TC Conducted An Individualized Analysis Of Solis-Diaz's Circumstances, Which Is All That Is Required Under *Miller*.

The trial judge considered Solis-Diaz's circumstances in relation to the sentence he ultimately imposed. Contrary to Solis-Diaz's contention, the trial court need only do an individual assessment of Solis-Diaz's circumstances, which would include his youth, when determining what an appropriate sentence is. Solis-Diaz argues that Judge Hunt failed to consider the required individualized factors as set forth in *Miller*. Brief of Appellant 28-34.

First, for Solis-Diaz to state, "the sentencing court never considered Mr. Solis-Diaz's background and mental and emotional development" is a blatant misrepresentation of the sentencing hearing. See RP 19, 41-42, 45, 49, 53; Brief of Appellant 31-32. The trial judge considered all of the materials presented by Solis-Diaz. RP 19. Judge Hunt actually read the 180 page sentencing memorandum and supporting materials prior to the sentencing hearing. RP 19; CP 75-255. Judge Hunt also reviewed Dr. Roesch's report prior to the hearing. RP 19; CP 270-84. In addition, Judge Hunt listened and took into account Dr. Roesch's testimony

on the matter. RP 41-42, 45. Judge Hunt may have not articulated his review and reasoning as thoroughly as Solis-Diaz would like, but that does not mean the judge did not make an individualized determination of the appropriate sentence.

The Supreme Court in *Miller* held that a mandatory life without parole sentence for juvenile offenders is unconstitutional. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2469. It is only this mandatory scheme that is unconstitutional. *Id.* "[T]he Eighth Amendment forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." *Id.* Judge Hunt's individualized determination of Solis-Diaz's sentence and consideration of the *Fain* factors as well as the mitigating factors put forward by Solis-Diaz complies with *Miller*. This Court should only remand for consideration of the multiple offense policy as a mitigating factor.

## C. SOLIS-DIAZ HAD NOT MADE THE REQUISITE SHOWING TO HAVE JUDGE HUNT REMOVED FROM HIS CASE.

Solis-Diaz urges this Court to remove Judge Hunt from his case upon remand for resentencing. Brief of Appellant 34-39. Solis-Diaz argues Judge Hunt has prejudged the case and he would have substantial difficulty setting aside prior erroneous beliefs and rulings on remand. Brief of Appellant 35-39. Solis-Diaz asserts that the appearance of fairness doctrine requires Judge Hunt's removal.

Id. The State respectfully disagrees with Solis-Diaz's analysis, and while Judge Hunt may have some strong feelings and beliefs in regards to Solis-Diaz's case, these beliefs and feelings do not warrant his removal.

#### 1. Standard Of Review.

The appearance of fairness doctrine and whether a judge should be disqualified based upon if the judge's impartiality may reasonably be questioned is an objective test. *In re Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. 812, 818, 244 P.3d 959 (2010). An appearance of fairness claim will not succeed without evidence of actual or potential bias because the claim would be without merit. *Id.* 

# 2. Judge Hunt Did Not Violate The Appearance Of Fairness Doctrine During Solis-Diaz's Resentencing Hearing.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial by an impartial judge. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The law requires more than just impartiality, the law requires a judge to also appear impartial. *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 187, 225 P.3d 973 (2010) (quotations and citations omitted). It is presumed that a judge acts without prejudice or bias. *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818. Judges are also required to disqualify himself or herself from a proceeding if the judge's impartiality may

reasonably be questioned or they are biased against a party. CJC 2.11(A); <sup>7</sup> Swenson, 158 Wn. App. at 818. Under the Code of Judicial Conduct:

A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned including but not limited to the following circumstances:

(1) The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyers, or personal knowledge of facts that are in dispute in the proceeding.

CJC 2.11(A)(1).

"The appearance of fairness doctrine is 'directed at the evil of a biased or potentially interested judge or quasi-judicial decision maker." Swenson, 158 Wn. App. at 818, citing State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 618-19, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). Under the objective standard, "a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude that the parties received a fair, impartial and neutral hearing." Gamble, 168 Wn.2d at 187 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Allegedly improper or biased comments are considered in context. See, e.g., Gamble, 168 Wn.2d at 188; In re Dependency of O.J., 88 Wn. App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The State is citing to the current citation under the CJC that was in effect in 2011 when the plea was taken. Much of the case law and LaChance's briefing cite to former CJC 3(D)(1).

690, 697, 947 P.2d 252 (1997). A defendant who has reason to believe a judge is biased and impartial must affirmatively act if they wish to pursue a claim for violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine. *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818. A defendant cannot simply wait until he or she has an adverse ruling to move for disqualification of a judge if that defendant has reason to believe the judge should be disqualified. *Id*.

Judge Hunt took great pains at the re-sentencing hearing to explain his actions from the previous sentencing hearing and to also explain to this Court why he felt the opinion authored in Solis-Diaz's personal restraint petition was insulting to trial judges. RP 34-52. Judge Hunt's frustration with this Court does not mean he failed to be impartial. Yes, Judge Hunt did go on a slight tirade directed towards this Court. Judge Hunt expressed his frustration that this Court seemed to be under the impression that he would be ignorant to a number of the issues surrounding the facts and circumstances of Solis-Diaz's first sentencing hearing. RP 34-42. This did not violate the appearance of fairness doctrine.

Judge Hunt pointed out that he knew Solis-Diaz was an auto-adult jurisdiction case and to assume otherwise was insulting. RP 34-35. Judge Hunt also noted, for this Court's benefit, that the

local Department of Corrections office refuses to do pre-sentence investigations unless they are mandated by statute and there is no such mandate in a case like Solis-Diaz's. RP 35-36. Judge Hunt also made a record regarding how Mr. Underwood understood what his audience, the trial judge, knew what would and would not likely be persuasive. RP 36-37. Finally, to make it clear he understood that he could have, if he had so chosen to, handed down an exceptional sentence below the standard range at the time of Solis-Diaz's original sentencing, Judge Hunt stated, "[d]espite the clear legislative intent, I know I could, and I knew I could at the time of the original sentence, under some circumstances declare an exceptional sentence below the standard range." RP 42.

Despite his irritation at this Court, Judge Hunt considered all of the material submitted by Solis-Diaz's attorney, listened to the testimony of Solis-Diaz's expert, heard Solis-Diaz's attorney's argument regarding sentencing and listened to Solis-Diaz before making his ruling. See RP. Regardless of whether Solis-Diaz believes Judge Hunt made the appropriate rulings, even he cannot deny that the judge went through Solis-Diaz's sentencing memorandum and addressed all of the requested mitigating factors and the constitutional issue. RP 34-52. If, as Solis-Diaz argues,

Judge Hunt was mistaken about his ability to deal with the federal constitutional issues on this remand, this is not a violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine, it is at most a misunderstanding of this Court's prior ruling. Brief of Appellant 38-39; RP 53. Judge Hunt did not violate the appearance of fairness doctrine during Solis-Diaz's re-sentencing hearing.

# 3. Removal Of Judge Hunt Is Not An Appropriate Remedy.

A party who is seeking a judge's removal from a case must generally file a motion requesting recusal in the trial court. *State v. McEnroe*, 181 Wn.2d 375, 386, 333 P.3d 402 (2014). "The recusal rule itself is based on the assumption that the challenged judge gets to evaluate the stated grounds for recusal in the first instance." *McEnroe*, 181 Wn.2d at 386. A party may ask to have a judge removed for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 387.

[R]eassignement may be sought for the first time on appeal where, for example, the trial judge will exercise discretion on remand regarding the very issue that triggered the appeal and has already been exposed to prohibited information, expressed an opinion as to the merits, or otherwise prejudged the issue.

*Id.* The remedy of appellate court removal is generally not available when the decision of the appellate court "effectively limits the trial court's discretion on remand." *Id.*

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